IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
Supreme Court No. DA 25-0409

STEVE and ROXANNE BLANCHARD

Appellants,

v.

Appellees.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from Blanchard v. Wild Horse Trading Co. L.L.C., et al., Cause No. DV-32-2023-0000055-NE, Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, Hon. Shane Vannatta, District Court Judge

Attorneys for Appellants

John L. Amsden, Esq.
Justin P. Stalpes, Esq.
Sydney E. Best, Esq.
BECK AMSDEN & STALPES, PLLC
610 Professional Drive
Bozeman, MT 59718
(406) 586-8700
amsden@becklawyers.com
justin@becklawyers.com
sydney@becklawyers.com

Dan L. Spoon, Esq.
Bryan L. Spoon, Esq.
SPOON GORDON, P.C.
800 S. 3rd Street W, Suite A

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the District Court improperly resolve factual disputes relevant to Plaintiffs' claim of negligent selection of a contractor under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 411 against Defendant PacWest?
2. Did the District Court misapply Montana's inherently dangerous activity doctrine by requiring proof of agency or control—contrary to this Court's decision in *Beckman v. Butte-Silver Bow County*—and thereby conflating the three *Beckman* exceptions?
3. Did the District Court improperly resolve genuine issues of material fact by relying on extrinsic evidence to interpret the Nautilus Insurance policy while simultaneously holding that the policy was unambiguous?
4. Did the District Court err by concluding Nautilus owed no duty to defend or indemnify where disputed facts and policy ambiguities exist?

STATEMENT OF CASE

On August 12, 2022, Defendant PacWest directed trucking contractor, Plaintiff Steve Blanchard, to pick up log bundles on PacWest's behalf. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 12). The log bundles were located at the facility of another of PacWest's contractors, Third-Party Defendant Clark Fork Posts, Inc. ("Clark Fork"). *Id.* PacWest admits it had "contractual relationships with Steve Blanchard [and] Clark Fork Posts" and PacWest regularly purchased log products from Clark Fork. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 1, at 27:12–16; *Id.* Exh. 2, at 23:14–23).

Clark Fork is Amish-owned, and religious beliefs precluded it from operating the machinery required to lift the heavy logs onto waiting trailers. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 2, at 11:3–14; 32:22–33:19). So, Clark Fork hired Defendant Jason Subatch

(“Subatch”) to load the logs. Subatch is the owner and sole manager of Wild Horse Trading Company, LLC (“Wild Horse”), which operates under the assumed business name, “Wild Horse Contracting Services.” (App. at 7).

Plaintiff Steve Blanchard was catastrophically injured when Subatch’s employee lost control of the 7,000 pound bundle of logs, causing it to tumble across Steve’s body.

Plaintiffs filed this suit on January 13, 2023. (Dkt. 1). PacWest moved for summary judgment less than two months after answering the complaint, during the infancy of the discovery process. (Dkt. 65). Plaintiffs sought PacWest’s Rule 30(b)(6) deposition and requested depositions of individuals identified by PacWest as having knowledge of the claim. (Dkt. 81, at 15; Dkt. 82, Exh. 13, Exh. 16). PacWest refused to allow the depositions. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 13). The District Court granted PacWest’s motion on September 3, 2024 and refused to allow the sought-after depositions. (App. at 1–24).

Defendant Jason Subatch and Wildhorse Contracting Services were provided counsel by Subatch’s insurer, Nautilus. (Dkt. 181, at 9). After defending for 23 months, Nautilus filed a motion for summary judgment seeking a declaration that no duty to defend or indemnify existed. (Dkt. 128). The District Court granted the motion, deciding—contrary to the Pleadings—that “no named Defendant is a[] [Nautilus] insured.” (App. at 25–48).

Jason Subatch is a Named Insured under the Nautilus Policy and remains a Defendant. (App. at 87–116). Nevertheless, counsel provided to Subatch by Nautilus withdrew. (Dkt. 174). As a result, Subatch, Wild Horse and Blanchards all sought, unsuccessfully, a writ of supervisory control over the proceedings. *Blanchard et al. v. Vannatta*, No. OP 25-0224, 2025 WL 1042237, at *2 (Mont. Apr. 8, 2025).

After denial, Blanchards sought Rule 54(b) certification. Recognizing that “a reviewing decision may reinstitute counsel for Defendants Wild Horse Contracting Services and Subatch with a conclusion that there is a duty to defend,” the District Court certified its Orders in Dkts. 119 and 171 as final under Mont. R. Civ. P. 54(b). (Dkt. 181). Blanchards timely appeal both Orders.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

PacWest is a Washington-based entity that produces and sells a host of wood and timber products across the western United States. PACIFIC WESTERN LUMBER, <https://pacwestlumber.com/> (last accessed May 2, 2024). Some of PacWest’s primary products are poles, pilings, and fence posts. *See* PACIFIC WESTERN LUMBER, POLE/PILINGS, <https://pacwestlumber.com/poles-and-pilings> (last accessed May 2, 2024).

Since 2019, PacWest has purchased the majority of Clark Fork’s inventory. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 2, at 23:24–24:1, 66:22–24). PacWest has the logs delivered from

Clark Fork, where they are cut, to a plant in Stevensville for further production and treatment before the products are sold to the public. (*Id.* Exh. 1, at 16:24–17:8).

The log bundles stood approximately four to five feet tall, stretched 12 feet wide and weighed approximately 7,000 pounds. (App. 65–69, ¶ 10(c)). Loading the unstable log bundles came with inherent risks. (App. 62–71, ¶ 10). Given the known risks of 7,000 pounds of logs prone to rolling, precautions are necessary to protect workers and bystanders from death or maiming. *Id.*

Subatch sent new employee, Defendant Ryan Hart, to lift the log bundles onto Steve’s trailer. *Id.* Though he understood loading was dangerous, Hart was untrained in the precautions required to protect others, like: anchoring the logs; using dunnage to reposition before lifting; transporting logs with the forks tilted upwards to secure the load against the mast; and lowering the logs close to the ground during transport to preserve visibility and stability. *Id.* Although lacking in experience, Mr. Hart acknowledged that loading 7,000-lb. log bundles was dangerous. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 4, at 53:3–16). The log bundles are pictured below:



On August 12, 2022, the predictable happened. Untrained Hart inappropriately approached Steve's trailer with the lift while Steve was securing a load. Hart lost control, knocking a log bundle onto Steve. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 2, at 97:6-98:4, Exh. 12 at 9-11). Hart braked suddenly, causing the log bundle to roll off the forks and into the side of Steve's trailer, which violently rocked the trailer and caused one of the log bundles Steve was securing to fall on top of Steve. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 12, at 10-11; Dkt. 82, Exh. 2, at 97:13-18). The impact broke Steve's legs, spine, and neck, and caused a brain injury.

Hart testified that he was never trained to do the sort of work he was instructed to do by Mr. Subatch. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 4, at 55:9-18). Hart also admitted he was not qualified to do the work that caused Steve's injuries. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 4, at 93:23-94:1; 94:9-15; 94:20-22).

Compounding the peril, Clark Fork's facility was ill-maintained and dangerous. (*See, e.g.*, App. at 65-69 ¶ 10(c)). Loaders had to navigate heavy loads through a lane of mud, clay, debris, and piles of posts and poles. (*Id.*) Clark Fork also failed to provide dunnage to prevent bundles from rolling off trailers. (App. at 69-71, ¶ 10(e)). Subatch asked Clark Fork to clear out the obstacles and debris due to safety concerns, and even asked Mr. Yoder to put in a new loading area, but Mr. Yoder declined due to the cost associated with doing so. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 3, at 33:4-34:14). PacWest knew about the dangerous conditions, as admitted by PacWest's

business partner.¹ (Dkt. 82, Exh. 5, at 17:23-18:22 (“It’s a dangerous loading zone ...their equipment isn’t adequate...”). PacWest’s longtime sales representative visited Clark Fork and witnessed the dangerous situation. (*Id.* at Exh. 1, at 19:5-9).

There are several precautions that PacWest knew or should have known must be taken to mitigate the risks of heavy and round loads that are susceptible to rolling or shifting during and after the loading process. (App. at 53–56, ¶¶ 9, 11); (App. at 69–71, ¶ 10(e)); (Dkt. 82, Exh. 5, at 30:31–31:1). Safety precautions that must be taken in this circumstance include:

- Utilizing steel bunks, dunnage, or other structures to hold the load on the back of a semi-trailer to prevent it from rolling, shifting, or falling off of a semi-trailer:



¹ PacWest’s third-party complaint against Clark Fork demonstrates PacWest’s knowledge. (Dkt. 50).

- Using a crane, cherry picker, or grab machine to pick up and place the load.



(App. at 55–56, ¶ 11); (App. at 69–71, ¶ 10(e)); *see also* (Dkt. 82, Exhs. 15, 16).

These precautions are commonly used in the lumber industry to ensure workers are a safe distance from heavy logs that are susceptible to rolling and shifting. (App. at 56, ¶ 12). Using a crane and steel bunks more safely contains the logs onto a semi-trailer before they are fully secured. (App. at 55–56, ¶ 11); (App. at 69–71). These precautions minimize the inherent danger of the load shifting or rolling when the semi-truck driver must approach the load to secure it for transport. (App. at 56–57, ¶ 15); (App. at 71, ¶ 11).

PacWest’s contractor now uses these precautions at the Clark Fork facility. (Dkt. 82, Exh. 2, at 80:20–82:12 (steel dunnage); *Id.* 84:17–21, 86:11–23 (crane); *Id.* 83:19–22). Had these precautions been taken at the Clark Fork facility on the day

that Steve Blanchard was there at PacWest's request to pick up PacWest's wood-pole bundles, Mr. Blanchard would not have been injured. (App. at 71, ¶ 11).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court committed reversible error by granting summary judgment to PacWest and Nautilus. In both instances, the court misapplied settled Montana law, disregarded genuine issues of material fact, and usurped the jury's role in resolving disputed factual questions.

First, the District Court improperly rejected Plaintiffs' negligent selection claim against PacWest by holding that no subcontractor relationship existed between PacWest and Clark Fork—despite admissions of a contractual relationship and evidence that PacWest engaged Clark Fork to perform critical steps in the log delivery chain. Under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 411, which this Court has adopted, liability attaches when a company entrusts dangerous work to an incompetent contractor. The evidence supports that Clark Fork's loading conditions and subcontracting to an untrained loader like Ryan Hart created a foreseeable risk of catastrophic harm.

Second, the court refused to apply the inherently dangerous activity doctrine, even though this Court has squarely held that transporting and handling heavy log bundles is precisely the kind of dangerous activity that triggers a non-delegable duty. Disregarding blackletter law, the District Court decided that without a demonstration

of control over a subcontractor, the doctrine does not apply. The District Court erroneously conflated the three disjunctive *Beckman* exceptions by importing the element of control from the third exception into the inherently dangerous activity element of the second. Its conclusion that PacWest could not be held vicariously liable directly conflicts with Montana law and creates dangerous precedent by shielding companies from responsibility for inherently hazardous work performed on their behalf.

Third, the court erred in concluding there was no coverage under the Nautilus policy. The District Court’s ruling ignored the plain language of the pleadings and the insuring agreement, disregarded factual disputes about ownership, and impermissibly relied on extrinsic evidence to interpret a contract that it found to be unambiguous. The District Court determined that Jason Subatch had no ownership of Wild Horse. However, Jason Subatch was repeatedly identified—by Nautilus, witnesses, and even prior court orders—as the sole owner of Wild Horse and the insured under the policy. In fact, the parties submitted an “Agreed Fact” that Jason Subatch was the sole owner of Wild Horse on the date of the incident. Nevertheless, the District Court found no genuine issues of fact existed and that Jason Subatch was unequivocally *not* the owner of Wild Horse, and therefore not insured.

The court further compounded its error by resolving factual questions about whether Subatch and his entity were involved in the incident and whether coverage

applied using extrinsic evidence, such as a declaration from Nautilus's agent and emails she sent to Nautilus. Relying upon this extrinsic evidence, the District Court concluded Subatch was involved with two separate entities: one spelled "*Wild Horse* Contracting Services," and another spelled "*Wildhorse* Contracting Services." The District Court rejected argument and evidence that the difference in spelling was a mistake borne of Nautilus' agent's sloppiness. The District Court discounted contradictory evidence, including Sheehan's consistently inconsistent and interchangeable use of the names Wildhorse and Wild Horse. In one email Sheehan wrote: "I insured **Wildhose** (sic) Trading Co LLC." (Dkt. 145, Exh. 8). In another: "This was a standard renewal for **Wildhorse trading company** (sic)."

An insurer is not permitted to void coverage by taking advantage of a misstatement in the application material to the risk which is due to mistake or negligence of the agent, and not to fraud or bad faith on the part of the insured. The District Court ignored this well-established rule and relied upon extrinsic evidence to rebuff Appellants' factually supported position that Sheehan was just messy.

Because the court misapplied controlling precedent and disregarded substantial evidence that supports Plaintiffs' claims and coverage, its rulings should be reversed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A district court's summary judgment ruling is reviewed *de novo*. *Watkins Trust v. Lacosta*, 2004 MT 144, ¶ 16, 321 Mont. 432, 92 P.3d 620.

Summary judgment is proper only when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Watkins Trust*, ¶ 16. All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the party opposing summary judgment. *Id.* (citing *Schmidt v. Washington Contractors Group*, 1998 MT 194, ¶ 7, 290 Mont. 276, 964 P.2d 34). If there is any doubt regarding the propriety of summary judgment, it should be denied. *360 Ranch Corp. v. R & D Holding* (1996), 278 Mont. 487, 491, 926 P.2d 260, 262.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Erred by Granting PacWest's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Substantial evidence exists from which a jury could conclude PacWest was negligent for contracting with Clark Fork. In addition, PacWest can be held vicariously liable for the failure of downstream contractors to take reasonable and necessary precautions during the inherently dangerous activity at issue. The District Court erred by dismissing PacWest early in the case, and denying Plaintiffs the ability to take material depositions.

A. A Jury Could Find PacWest Liable for Its Negligence in Selecting Clark Fork as a Contractor.

“The employer of a negligently selected contractor is subject to liability ...for physical harm caused by his failure to exercise reasonable care to select a competent and careful contractor.” Restatement (Second) of Torts § 411 (1965) (cmt. b). *Gurnsey v. Conklin Co.*, 230 Mont. 42, 54, 751 P.2d 151, 158 (1988) (adopting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 411) *see also* *Brookins v. Mote*, 2012 MT 283, ¶ 59, 367 Mont. 193, 292 P.3d 347. (Montana recognizes liability for negligent selection of a contractor under Restatement § 411). Negligent selection of a contractor is an alternative theory of liability to the inherently dangerous activity doctrine, which is discussed in the next section. *See Paull v. Park City*, 2009 MT 321, ¶ 63, 352 Mont. 465, 218 P.3d 1198 (Rice dissent).

The Illustrations within the comments of Restatement (Second) of Torts § 411 provide hypothetical scenarios which exemplify application of the blackletter rule and contextualize application of the law. Illustration 2 provides salient guidance on the present issue:

The A Company, engaged in logging operations, hires B Company to haul large logs over the public highway. With the exercise of reasonable care in making inquiry A Company could, but does not, discover that B Company's only available equipment consists of converted lumber trucks unsuitable for hauling such large logs in safety and on which the logs cannot be securely fastened. While such a truck of B Company is hauling the logs, they are displaced while rounding a curve, and one of them falls upon the passing automobile of C, injuring C. A Company is subject to liability to C.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 411 (Illustration 2).

Just like the “A Company, engaged in logging operations,” PacWest, using reasonable care, should have discovered that the Clark Fork facility was dangerous, ill-maintained and lacked the requisite safety precautions necessary to minimize the inherent dangers of loading the log bundles. PacWest should have discovered that the loading area was filled with obstacles and debris. PacWest should have discovered that requests had been made to clean up or relocate the loading area, but that Clark Fork refused to do so. PacWest should have discovered that no crane, cherry picker, or grab machinery was being used on the site (like they are now). PacWest should have discovered that Clark Fork was not placing steel bunks on the trailer to prevent rolling (like it is now).

In addition, with reasonable inquiry PacWest would have discovered that the Amish owned business, which could not operate machinery, subcontracted the loading work to Subatch who employed an extremely – and admittedly – underqualified operator to load the dangerous log bundles. Hart testified that he was never trained to do the work that ultimately crushed Steve:

9 **Q. Now, had you been trained by Mr. Subatch**
10 **to roll with the -- to travel with the forks fully**
11 **engaged because that's safest?**
12 A. I've never been trained by -- in this
13 practice of loading of bunks.
14 **Q. Mr. Subatch never told you what the best**
15 **practice --**
16 A. No.
17 **Q. -- would be, right?**
18 A. Right.

(Dkt. 82, Exh. 4, at 55:9-18).

As is explained in the comments to Restatement §411, where, as here, the work is considerably dangerous, considerable investigation is required:

if the work is such as will be highly dangerous unless properly done and is of a sort which requires peculiar competence and skill for its successful accomplishment, one who employs a contractor to do such work may well be required to go to considerable pains to investigate the reputation of the contractor and, if the work is peculiarly dangerous unless carefully done, to go further and ascertain the contractor's actual competence.

Restatement (Second) of Torts, §411, cmt. c.

Considering PacWest's sophistication coupled with the obvious inability of Clark Fork to operate the necessary machinery to load the logs, PacWest had an obligation to ascertain the competence of whomever Clark Fork would use for loading. This is particularly true where PacWest directed Steve Blanchard to receive the logs on a particular date at the Clark Fork facility. *See* Restatement (Second) of Torts, §411, cmt. c. (The existence of a relation between the parties may impose upon the one a peculiar duty of protecting the other).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellants, genuine issues of fact prohibit granting summary judgment to PacWest. Sidestepping the issue, however, the District Court determined that because there was no contractor-subcontractor relationship between PacWest and Clark Fork, there was no need to analyze the Blanchards' claim for negligent selection. The District Court's order states:

D. Negligence in selecting a subcontractor.

The Blanchards also argue the Motion should be denied because PacWest is liable for its negligence in selecting a subcontractor. (Dkt # 81, p. 25). The Court has concluded above that PacWest was not a general contractor and as such it has not selected any subcontractors. PacWest was Clark Fork Posts' customer. Therefore, the Court does not further address the Blanchards' arguments on this point.

(App. at 22).

Contrary to the District Court's conclusion, PacWest's manager, Steve Wearne, admitted PacWest *had* a contractual relationship with Clark Fork.

| | | |
|----------------------------|--|----------|
| 12 13 14 15 16 | So the question is, PacWest has contractual relationships with Steve Blanchard, Frontier Posts, Clark Fork Posts and Frontier Wood Preserves; is that correct? A. Correct. | 11:56:18 |
|----------------------------|--|----------|

(Dkt. 82, Exh. 1, at 27:12-16).²

² No other depositions of PacWest employees or representatives were allowed by the District Court. (App. at 22–23).

Also contrary to the District Court's determination, Illustration 2 of Restatement §411 does not premise liability upon a company's designation as a *general* contractor. Recall that Illustration 2 to Restatement §411 places liability upon a company "engaged in logging operations," just like PacWest, which hires another company to haul its logs. In this case, PacWest hired Clark Fork to cut the logs to size, bundle them, and then place the log bundles onto Steve Blanchard's trailer. Negligent selection of a contractor is an available remedy in this circumstance, as exemplified by the Illustrations to Restatement § 411. The District Court's decision – which cursorily dismissed Plaintiffs' negligent selection claim – should be reversed.

B. PacWest may be Held Vicariously Liable Under the Inherently Dangerous Activity Doctrine.

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