IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case No. DA 25-0409

STEVE BLANCHARD, an individual; and
ROXANNE BLANCHARD, an individual,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants’ position that the District Court misapplied the vicarious liability theories at issue misinterprets the District Court’s Order and the applicable law. The District Court did not misapply Appellants’ proffered theories; instead, the District Court determined—based on the Court’s long line of explicit authority—that it was

not obligated to analyze the theories in the first place because PacWest did not have the requisite legal relationships with Clark Fork and Wild Horse. The District Court correctly concluded that the Rule 56 record undisputedly establishes that PacWest had no authority or control over Clark Fork or Wild Horse and that the Appellants failed to demonstrate how additional discovery would refute that fact. The District Court therefore correctly held that PacWest did not owe Mr. Blanchard a duty of care as a matter of law under any of Appellants' legal theories. The District Court correctly interpreted the undisputed evidence and applied the relevant law, and its Order should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the District Court correctly concluded that the negligent selection doctrine does not impose a duty on PacWest because PacWest did not have an employer-contractor relationship with Clark Fork.

Appellants' position that PacWest was negligent in selecting Clark Fork as a "contractor" is premised entirely upon Appellants' wholly unsupported assertion that PacWest's purchase of products from Clark Fork equates to the parties having an "employer-contractor" relationship. Appellants, however, offer no material evidence beyond the parties' "contractual relationships" to establish such a relationship. (Appellants Opening Br., pp. 11-16.) Appellants' failure to establish a prerequisite to applying the negligent selection doctrine is fatal to their position that the doctrine applies and the District Court's Order concluding as much should be

affirmed.

The negligent selection doctrine provides that “[a]n *employer*” may be held liable for injuries caused by an “*employer*[’s] . . . failure to exercise reasonable care to *employ* a competent and careful contractor.” *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 411 (1965) (emphasis added). The *Restatement*’s plain language predicates liability under the negligent selection doctrine upon the parties having an “employer-contractor” relationship. Other provisions in the chapter of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* under which § 411 is found, entitled “Liability of an Employer of an Independent Contractor,” further reinforce that § 411’s applicability is dependent upon the parties’ relationship. The comments to *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 409, which espouses the general principle of which § 411 is an exception, expressly provide:

The words "independent contractor" are used throughout this Topic as describing any person who does work for another under conditions which are not sufficient to make him a servant of the other. It is immaterial whether the work is done gratuitously or is done for pay, or, indeed, if the latter, whether it is done under a specific contract or under a general contract of employment . . . [because] an agent may be either an independent contractor or a servant while engaged in work necessary to the exercise of his functions as agent.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 409 (1965) (cmt. a). When read in conjunction with the *Restatement*’s definition of “independent contractor,” § 411 imposes liability upon employers who fail to exercise reasonable care in employing a person who engages in the functions of an agent to perform work for them. The plain language

of the *Restatement* accordingly requires an agency-like relationship between the parties before the negligent selection doctrine is applicable.

That the doctrine's applicability is dependent upon the parties' relationship is reinforced by the other authority upon which Plaintiffs rely. The issue before the Court in the case adopting § 411 was whether the defendant fertilizer company could be held liable for the actions of salesmen who were undisputedly "acting as agents" of the company. *Gurnsey v. Conklin Co.*, 230 Mont. 42, 751 P.2d 151 (1987). *Brookins v. Mote*, 2012 MT 283, 367 Mont. 193, 292 P.3d 347, involved claims by an injured patient of harm caused by a doctor who was credentialed by the hospital against whom an "analogous" doctrine was asserted, and while the doctor was using the hospital's facilities. *Brookins*, ¶¶ 7, 18-19. Neither *Gurney* nor *Brookins* stand for the proposition that the customer of a production facility that negligently loads the customer's product can be held liable for the manner in which the production facility conducts its product loading operations. Instead, the cases stand for the proposition that certain exceptions to the independent contractor rule of vicarious liability may be invoked when certain legal relationships exist.

The record before the Court undisputedly establishes that PacWest had no control or right to control Clark Fork or its operations, including the product-loading and safety measures implemented by Clark Fork at its facility. (Dkt. 66, Ex. 1, 27:10-31:17, 35:17-36:16, 46:2-48 :17; App. 1, pp. 5-7, 10.) The record also undisputedly

establishes that PacWest had “zero involvement with Clark Fork’s relationship with Wild Horse and its loading operations.” (Dkt. 66, Ex. 1, 36:13-16; App. 1, p. 7; Dkt. 66, Ex. 2, 12:18-13:23, 15:2-17:4, 120:1-25; App. 2, pp. 2-4; Dkt. 90, Ex. A App. 3, pp. 2-3.) Appellants have put forth no material evidence refuting that PacWest lacks the necessary relationships with Clark Fork and Wild Horse beyond PacWest’s “contractual relationship” with Clark Fork. (*E.g.*, Appellants’ Opening Br., pp. 8, 15.) PacWest’s contractual relationship with Clark Fork, however, undisputedly consists of PacWest submitting purchase orders to Clark Fork for products Clark Fork produces. (Dkt. 66, Ex. 1, 25:2-23; App. 1, p. 5.) Under Appellants’ strained interpretation of the negligent selection doctrine, any customer who purchases product from an entity that involves allegedly dangerous loading operations could be held liable for any injuries caused to third parties while the product it purchased was being loaded. Appellants’ interpretation stretches the doctrine beyond reason and should be rejected.

Appellants’ reliance on the various *Restatement* comments/illustrations and the Court’s precedent holding that logging operations and transporting logs may implicate vicarious liability is similarly misplaced. As Appellants stress, Illustration 2 of *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 411 (1965), provides that a company that negligently engages a contractor to *haul* logs can be held vicariously liable if it fails to exercise reasonable care in retaining the contractor. (Appellants’ Opening Br., pp.

14-16.) As Appellants also emphasize, Comment d to *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 416 (1965), and the Court’s holding adopting it in *Beckman v. Butte-Silver Bow County*, 2000 MT 112, 299 Mont. 389, 1 P.3d 348, similarly provide that a company that employs a contractor to *transport* logs can be held vicariously liable for the actions of the contractor because the activity is inherently dangerous. (Appellants’ Opening Br., p. 17.) Appellants’ authority therefore provides that a company may be held liable for the actions of the driver of a log-transporting truck because the company retained the driver to perform a service on the company’s behalf, *i.e.*, an employer-contractor relationship. Appellants’ authority does not stand for the proposition that the company that purchases the logs can be held liable for the actions of the company from which it purchased the logs or the company that loaded the logs, when it has no authority or control over either of the companies. The Court should decline to adopt Appellants’ tortured interpretation of *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 411 & 416 (1965), and *Beckman*.

The District Court correctly concluded that PacWest does not have an employer-contractor relationship with Clark Fork that would invoke the negligent-selection doctrine: “PacWest was not a general contractor and as such it has not selected any subcontractors. PacWest was Clark Fork Posts’ customer.” (Dkt. 119, p. 21.) Appellants have failed to put forth material evidence demonstrating otherwise and the Court “has no duty . . . to anticipate or speculate as to the existence of [such]

material facts.” *See Kostelecky*, ¶ 18. The District Court did not err in declining to invoke the negligent-selection doctrine and its Order should be affirmed.

II. Whether the District Court correctly concluded that the inherently dangerous activity exception does not impose a duty on PacWest because PacWest did not have an agency relationship with Clark Fork or Wild Horse.

Appellants have failed to satisfy the pre-requisite to applying the inherently dangerous activity exception because they have not established that PacWest has an agency relationship with Clark Fork or Wild Horse. The District Court therefore correctly rejected Appellants’ argument that PacWest is vicariously liable for the alleged negligence of Clark Fork and Wild Horse simply because the work they performed is allegedly inherently dangerous. In repeating the same arguments on appeal, Appellants disregard the District Court’s rationale and the Court’s longstanding precedent holding that the inherently dangerous activity exception cannot apply when there is no agency relationship between the relevant parties. Accordingly, even if loading logs onto trucks is an inherently dangerous activity, which PacWest does not concede, the Court should decline Appellants’ attempt to invoke the exception because Appellants’ position “simply begs the question and entirely misses the point.” *See Dvorak v. Matador Serv.*, 223 Mont. 98, 103-04, 727 P.2d 1306, 1309 (1986).

The inherently dangerous activity exception must be applied narrowly. *Beckman*, ¶ 25. The Court has repeatedly held that the exception’s applicability is

predicated upon the relationships between the relevant parties. *Paull v. Park County*, 2009 MT 321, ¶ 22, 352 Mont. 465, 218 P.3d 1198 (holding that the “first step in applying [the exception] to the [defendant] is determining whether it was in a contractor-independent contractor relationship with [the tortfeasor]”); *Dick Irvin, Inc.*, ¶¶ 48-50 (holding that the exception does not apply when the defendant is not the tortfeasor’s “employer or principal”); *Dvorak*, 223 Mont at 104, 727 P.2d 1306 at 1309 (holding that a party cannot be liable under the exception when “the agency relationships which form the framework of the doctrine[] are absent”). When the agency relationship upon which liability under the exception relies is not present, as is the case here, the Court “need not inquire into whether [the activity] is inherently dangerous to conclude [that the alleged principal] was not vicariously liable for” the alleged tortfeasor’s torts. *Dick Irvin, Inc.*, ¶ 50; accord *Dvorak*, 223 Mont at 103, 727 P.2d 1306 at 1309 (holding that analyzing the exception is “to no avail [when] the underlying agency relationship upon which vicarious liability rests does not exist”).

Because the exception only applies if the parties have an agency relationship, analyzing whether an agency relationship exists is the “first step” in applying the exception. *Paull*, ¶ 22. “An agent is one who represents another, called the principal, in dealings with third persons.” Section 28-10-101, MCA. “[A]gency is not presumed but must be proven and the burden of proving it must be borne by the party

who asserts it.” *Elkins*, 153 Mont. at 166, 455 P.2d at 333. It is well-established that “[a]gency is the fiduciary relation which results from the manifestation of consent by one person to another that the other shall act on his behalf *and subject to his control*.” *Weingart v. C&W Taylor Partnership*, 248 Mont. 76, 80, 809 P.2d 576, 579 (1991) (emphasis in original); *accord Wolfe v. Schulz Refrigeration*, 188 Mont. 511, 517-18, 614 P.2d 1015, 1018-19 (1979) (“Integral to any agency relationship are the elements of consent and control.”). If the alleged principal does not control the alleged agent, there can be no agency as a matter of law. *Weingart*, 248 Mont. at 80, 809 P.2d at 579 (holding that “[a]n agency relationship did not exist . . . because the [alleged agents] were not subject to the [alleged principals’] control”); *Wolfe*, 188 Mont. at 517-18, 614 P.2d at 1018-19 (reversing an agency determination because the evidence did not show “sufficient control to establish an agency relationship”).

Here, the undisputed material facts confirm that PacWest did not have an agency relationship with Clark Fork or Wild Horse. The record before the Court undisputedly establishes that PacWest had no control or right to control Clark Fork or its operations, including the product-loading and safety measures implemented by Clark Fork at its facility. (Dkt. 66, Ex. 1, 27:10-31:17, 35:17-36:16, 46:2-48 :17; App. 1, pp. 5-7, 10.) The record also undisputedly establishes that PacWest had “zero involvement with Clark Fork’s relationship with Wild Horse and its loading

operations.” (Dkt. 66, Ex. 1, 36:13-16; App. 1, p. 7; Dkt. 66, Ex. 2, 12:18-13:23, 15:2-17:4, 120:1-25; App. 2, pp. 2-4; Dkt. 90, Ex. A; App. 3, pp. 2-3.)

By failing to analyze whether an agency relationship exists, Appellants have chosen to disregard their burden of establishing the first step in determining whether the exception upon which they rely is even applicable. *See Elkins*, 153 Mont. at 166, 455 P.2d at 333; *Paull*, ¶ 22. Appellants have produced no evidence—much less material and substantial evidence—refuting any of the above evidence regarding the parties’ relationships. Instead, Appellants simply fall back on their wholly unsupported position that Clark Fork and Wild Horse were PacWest’s “subcontractors” because they had “contractual relationships.” Appellants’ unsupported assertions and pleading allegations fail to satisfy their burden on summary judgment and the Court “has no duty . . . to anticipate or speculate as to the existence of [such] material facts.” *See Kostelecky*, ¶ 18. The undisputed Rule 56 record therefore supports the District Court’s conclusion that Clark Fork and Wild Horse were not PacWest’s agents, as a matter of law. *E.g.*, *Weingart*, 248 Mont. at 80, 809 P.2d at 579; *Wolfe*, 188 Mont. at 517-18, 614 P.2d at 1018-19.

Appellants’ own authority supports the rule that the inherently dangerous activity exception’s applicability is contingent upon the underlying relationship between the parties. In *Beckman*, the City of Butte, against whom the exception was asserted, entered into an agreement with the tortfeasor regarding the inherently

dangerous activity, digging a trench for municipal utility lines. *Beckman*, ¶ 6. Because the utility lines would become part of the public water system, the City required the tortfeasor to dig the trench to the City's specifications using methods conforming with the City's requirements. *Id.*, ¶¶ 6-7. The City also required the tortfeasor to obtain the City's approval of the plans for digging the trench and obtain a permit to dig the trench. *Id.*, ¶¶ 7, 38. The permit required the City to monitor the trenching activities and the City's employees were present during the trenching process. *Id.*, ¶ 38.

The parties' relationships in *Beckman* are easily distinguishable from the relationship between PacWest and the alleged tortfeasors here. As Mr. Yoder testified, and the District Court concluded, PacWest is simply one of Clark Fork's "customers" and PacWest's purchase order for the implicated load of bundles is the extent of PacWest's relationship with Clark Fork for purposes of the incident. (Dkt. 66, Ex. 1, 25:2-23, 46:19-20, 48:20-50:2; App. 1, pp. 5, 10-11; Dkt. 119, p. 21.) The City in *Beckman* was not the alleged tortfeasor's "customer" purchasing product from the alleged tortfeasor; it was the permitting entity that entered into an explicit agreement controlling the allegedly tortious activity that granted the City the authority to review the plans for the allegedly tortious activity, dictate the methods used and specifications for completing the allegedly tortious activity, and monitor the activity to ensure the alleged tortfeasor complied with the agreement and

approved plans, all of which the City did. *Beckman*, ¶¶ 6-7, 38.

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